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Welcome to the first of our new series of Discussion Papers to be published by Deloitte on the 
finalised Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (‘A-IFRS’). 
 
The objective of this Discussion Paper is to provide an overview of the various A-IFRS that were formally 
‘made’ by the Australian Accounting Standards Board at its meeting held on 14-15 July 2004.  The key 
requirements and impacts of each A-IFRS are briefly covered and we have also included examples of the 
narrative disclosures that might arise under AASB 1047 Disclosing the Impact of Adopting Australian 
Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AASB 1047).  
 
With less than six months from the formal commencement date for A-IFRS standards, and current 
financial results requiring restatement to form the comparatives under the entity’s first A-IFRS compliant 
financial report, challenges for Australian entities resulting from transition are immense.  The wide 
breadth and depth of the imminent changes will impact each entity differently, depending upon their 
individual circumstances and objectives. 
 
This paper also includes a number of key questions that boards and audit committees can use as a basis 
for discussion with management and those responsible for the transition to A-IFRS. 
 
We trust that our clients will find this Discussion Paper a useful tool in their transition process. 
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1 Executive summary 
1.1 Introduction 
The transition to Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (A-IFRS) will present 
many challenges for Australian entities in the months and years ahead. 

Because the impacts of the transition to A-IFRS vary widely, with each entity having its own unique set of 
circumstances and outcomes, there is no ‘one size fits all’ approach that will cover every permutation 
possible.  Some impacts, such as the derecognition of revalued intangible assets, have been well debated in 
the Australian community and are well understood.  Others, whilst outwardly conceptually easily understood, 
are often difficult to apply in practice and there are many unresolved issues. 

This document is designed to assist boards and audit committees in their assessment of the likely impacts of 
transition and their organisation’s preparedness for the change.  A detailed and technical analysis of each area 
is excluded in favour of a high-level summary of the approaches, key changes and transitional adjustments 
required. 

1.2 The Australian convergence process 
The Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) has been developing Accounting Standards with a view 
to international harmonisation for a number of years.  However in 2003, the AASB’s harmonisation policy 
was changed to a ‘convergence’ approach, whereby the AASB announced that International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) would be adopted as equivalent AASB Standards, with some minor exceptions.  
This change was instigated by the Financial Reporting Council and the Federal Government with the release 
of Issue Paper No. 9 ‘Corporate Disclosure – Strengthening the Financial Reporting Framework’ under its 
Corporate Law Economic Reform Program.   

The AASB issued 40 new or revised Accounting Standards in ‘Pending’ form by 30 June 2004 and 
subsequently formally ‘made’ these Standards at its meeting on 15 July 2004.  There are also a number of 
Urgent Issues Group Interpretations that accompany the various Accounting Standards.  Together, these 
pronouncements will apply to all entities required to comply with Accounting Standards in Australia, and 
therefore the transition to A-IFRS will need to be addressed by all entities.  Due to the inter-relationships that 
exist within IFRS, the AASB has adopted a ‘big-bang’ approach to transition and all these Accounting 
Standards will be applicable from 1 January 2005 and cannot be early adopted. 

1.3 The transition process 
From an accounting perspective, the transition to A-IFRS is mandated in a special Accounting Standard, 
AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards.  In general terms, 
A-IFRS applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005. 

The first financial report prepared under A-IFRS will require a full restatement of comparative information, 
with certain limited exceptions.  There are a number of exceptions to the general principle of full restatement, 
some of these are mandatory, and others are optional.  The implementation process needs to carefully 
consider these exceptions and the options available. 
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For entities that have a June balance date, the following timeline summarises the transition process: 
 

2004 

Scope the impact 

Identify business issues 

AASB 1047 disclosures 

Plan the implementation 

Design and implement systems 

Train staff 

2005 

First consolidation and 
comparatives 

 

2006 

Present first annual report 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The AASB has also released Accounting Standard AASB 1047 Disclosing the Impacts of Adopting Australian 
Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AASB 1047).  This standard requires certain disclosures 
during the transition period to A-IFRS, initially outlining the major impacts in narrative form, and then 
requiring quantification.  Examples of the narrative disclosures required are illustrated in each section of this 
document. 

Date of 
transition – 

opening 
audited 

balance sheet 
under A-IFRS 

1 July 
2004 

First full year 
A-IFRS 

complaint 
annual report 

required 

31 December
2004 

30 June
2005 

31 December 
2005 

30 June 
2006 

Half year 
comparatives 

(option to 
exclude 
financial 

instruments 
and insurance)

Full year 
comparatives 

(option to 
exclude 
financial 

instruments 
and insurance)

Systems and 
documentation 
requirements 
implemented 

First half 
year 

A-IFRS 
compliant 

report 
required 
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Key messages for boards and audit committees 

• Boards and audit committees need to take a high-level overview role in the final crucial phase in the 
process of transition over the coming months  

• The biggest impacts of the transition to A-IFRS can often be in areas other than accounting – such as 
systems requirements, training, resources, market impacts and ‘flow-on’ effects, e.g. banking covenants, 
legal agreements, and so on  

• Restatement of comparative information means that transactions need to be accounted for under two 
‘GAAPs’ during the transition year – current Australian pronouncements and A-IFRS 

• The transition to A-IFRS allows the entity to have a ‘free choice’ in go-forward accounting policies – the 
treatment in the future does not have to the same as in the past 

• There are key exceptions on transition, some mandatory and some optional, that can have material 
impacts on the reported financial performance and position of the entity on transition and into the 
future 

1.4 Summary of A-IFRS impacts 
The following matrix outlines the impacts of the various A-IFRS on issue, by reference to both their 
commercial impact and the implementation effort required. 

 
These standards are discussed in the various sections that follow this executive summary. 

121:  Effects of Changes in FX Rates* 
118:  Revenue* 
132:  Financial Instruments (Disclosure)* 
120:  Accounting for Gov’t Grants & 
             Disclosure of Gov’t Assistance* 
   138:  Intangible Assets 
   140:  Investment Property 
 

  139:  Financial Instruments 
         (Recognition) 
112:   Income Tax 
                            116:  Property, Plant  
             and Equipment* 
3:   Business Combinations 
119:   Employee Benefits* 
2:  Share-based Payment 
4:  Insurance Contracts* 
  136:  Impairment of Assets 
  1:     First-time Adoption 

101:  Presentation of Financial 128: Investments in Associates
    Statements 129:  Financial Reporting in Hyper 
102:  Inventories   -Inflationary Economies 
107:  Cash Flow Statements 130: Disclosure in Financial  
108:   Accounting Policies,     Statements of Banks and 
      Changes in Accounting     Similar Financial 
    Estimates and Errors    Institutions 
110: Events after Balance 131: Interests in Joint Ventures 
    Sheet Date 133: Earnings per Share 
111: Construction Contracts 134:  Interim Financial Reporting 
114: Segment Reporting 137: Provisions, Contingent 
117: Leases    Liabilities & Contingent Assets 
123: Borrowing Costs 141: Agriculture 
124: Related Party Disclosures 5: Non-current Assets Held for 
127:  Consolidated & Separate    Sale and Discontinued 
      Financial Statements    Operations 

Effort to implement 
(Time and skills required) 

C
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m
er
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ct
 

(N
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) 

* applicable in limited circumstances 
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1.5 Overview points for boards and audit committees 
to consider 
The following is a list of points that boards and audit committees may wish to consider in the overall 
transition to A-IFRS process.  Further specific points are included in each section in the remainder of the 
document. 

1.5.1 Planning for A-IFRS implementation 
• Has a high level scoping exercise been performed? 

• Has a detailed transition project plan and timetable been developed? 

• Does the plan cover all the wider business issues? 

• Has the entity taken into account the need for comparative disclosures and time for parallel running of 
new systems?  

• Have any additional capital expenditure, resourcing and other needs been adequately identified, costed 
and appropriately approved through the budget process? 

• Has the entity co-ordinated the project with their auditors and planned for the audit of the transition 
balance sheet and comparative period disclosures? 

• Are there any areas where the implementation plan is behind schedule, or have any other difficulties 
been identified? 

• What are the entity’s competitors and peers doing in relation to the key decisions under A-IFRS?  What 
discussion forums, lobby groups and other communication channels has the entity joined or put in place 
to monitor developments and issues? 

1.5.2 Product/services and other revenue generating activities 
• Has the impact on current derivative and structured finance products been assessed, and a view taken on 

whether they still meet strategic objectives?  

• Have the new accounting requirements been incorporated into the process for evaluating potential new 
products? 

1.5.3 Investor relations and dividend policy 
• Has the entity identified the impacts on the key performance indicators that are regularly communicated 

to analysts and shareholders?  

• Has the entity determined the appropriate timing and means of communication in order to manage 
shareholder and analysts’ expectations?  

• How will the entity explain that these changes have arisen through no change in underlying 
performance?  

• Has the entity considered benchmarking against competitors to understand the impact across its industry 
sector and on its comparative position?  

• Has the entity assessed the potential impact on its dividend policy if net profits are expected to be 
significantly affected or to be volatile?  

• Will convergence make planned dividend payments prior to adoption of A-IFRS appear imprudent?  As 
the Corporations Act 2001 requires dividends to be paid out of profits, is it expected that profits will be 
available under A-IFRS? 
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1.5.4 Systems, controls and information 
• Have existing processes and systems been reviewed to establish whether they will enable the preparation 

of A-IFRS financial reports?  

• Have necessary enhancements to processes and systems been identified?  Will these systems and 
processes provide data for implementation, monitoring, and disclosure purposes? 

1.5.5 Human resources and training 
• Has the entity assessed the available knowledge and the training needs of personnel?  

• Has the entity assessed whether there are sufficient internal resources available to engage in all aspects of 
the project, or identified suitable external providers?  

• As A-IFRS is a moving target, how does the entity propose to keep on top of both Australian and 
international accounting developments? 

 

 

 

 

 

Important note 

The information on the following pages is very summarised and provided as an overview guide to the major 
requirements and impacts of Australian equivalents to IFRS.  Due to the wholesale changes being introduced 
under A-IFRS, there are numerous minor changes that may impact entities. 

The Deloitte publication ‘Differences between current Australian GAAP and Australian equivalents to IFRS’ 
provides a more technical analysis of the differences.  The example AASB 1047 disclosures in this document 
are also included in the Deloitte publication ‘Addendum to the Deloitte 2004 Consolidated Model Financial 
Reports – Disclosing the impacts of adopting Australian equivalents to IFRS’.  Other publications listed in 
this document are available at www.deloitte.com.au or, where indicated with an   symbol, at 
www.iasplus.com.  

 

 

IAS PLUS 
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2 Major impact areas 
2.1 Financial instruments 
Key pronouncements AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation 

AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 

Future developments ED 132 ‘Request for Comment on IASB ED of Proposed Amendments to 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – the Fair Value 
Option’ 

IASB Exposure Draft of Proposed Amendments to IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments; Recognition and Measurement – Transition and Initial Recognition of 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

IASB Exposure Draft of Proposed Amendments to IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments; Recognition and Measurement – Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast 
Intragroup Transactions 

IASB Exposure Draft of Proposed Amendments to IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments; Recognition and Measurement – Financial Guarantee Contracts and 
Credit Insurance 

IASB ED 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

Commercial impact High 

Effort to implement High 

Main entities affected Accounting for financial instruments will impact the majority of entities 

Significant impacts can be expected in the banking, mining and utilities 
industries and any entity that has extensive hedging positions  

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004/11 ‘Financial instruments update’ 

Accounting Alert 2004/03 ‘Financial instruments: recognition and measurement’ 

Accounting Alert 2004/02 ‘Financial instruments: disclosure and presentation’ 

A Practitioner’s Guide to Full Fair Value Accounting of Financial Instruments 
(Deloitte & Touche, UK)   

Financial Instruments, Applying (superseded) IAS 32 and  
IAS 39   

IAS Plus Newsletter ‘ Special Global Edition – Revised Standards on Financial 
Instruments’   IAS PLUS

IAS PLUS

IAS PLUS
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2.1.1 Overview 
All financial assets and financial liabilities, including derivatives and embedded derivatives, must be 
recognised as assets or liabilities in the balance sheet from the time that the entity becomes a party to the 
contract, e.g. taking out a forward exchange contract. 

Each financial instrument must be classified at initial recognition into a number of specified categories and 
measured in accordance with the requirements for that category.  Measurement and the recognition of 
changes in the value of financial instruments will be dependant on the classification of the instrument, as set 
out in the following table: 

Classification Measurement Recognition 

Assets   

Loans or receivables Amortised cost, subject to 
impairment 

Profit and loss 

Held to maturity Amortised cost, subject to 
impairment 

Profit and loss 

Fair value through profit or loss 
(including held for trading) 

Fair value Profit and loss 

Available for sale Fair value Equity, subject to 
impairment 

Liabilities   

Fair value through profit or loss 
(including held for trading) 

Fair value Profit and loss 

Other Amortised cost Profit and loss 

Derivatives Fair value Profit and loss or equity 
(depending on whether 
hedge criteria satisfied) 

 

Hedge accounting is effectively an ‘option’ under A-IFRS.  However, hedge accounting is only permitted 
where specific requirements are met, including the formal documentation of the hedging relationship at the 
inception of the hedge and that the hedge is effective in offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows 
attributable to the hedged risk.  Any ‘ineffectiveness’ in the hedge relationship is recognised in the profit or 
loss. 

There are strict requirements in relation to the derecognition of financial assets and liabilities.  In relation to 
financial assets, derecognition is driven by a complex set of rules that can result in the derecognition of only a 
part of a financial asset, or derecognition coupled with the recognition of other financial assets or financial 
liabilities. 
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2.1.2 Key changes 
Key changes include: 

• fair value accounting for financial instruments – all derivatives and some other financial instruments are 
measured on a fair value basis introducing volatility in the balance sheet and potentially the profit and 
loss 

• embedded derivatives – derivatives that are considered to be ‘embedded’ in other contracts are 
sometimes separated from the underlying contract and measured at their fair values, usually through the 
profit or loss.  Examples of embedded derivatives include rise and fall clauses in contracts, options to 
extend leases, equity conversion rights, fixed rate debt extension options, supply contracts based on 
movements in market prices of other commodities 

• hedge accounting criteria – the specific requirements for hedge accounting may result in hedge 
accounting not being obtained for some derivatives previously accounted for as hedges.  Also any 
ineffective component of a hedge will now be recognised in profit and loss 

• hedge accounting documentation – the documentation and monitoring requirements to adopt hedge 
accounting are onerous and usually require system modifications.  Entities may prefer to not adopt hedge 
accounting, but this may result in additional volatility in reported net profits.  Even where hedge 
accounting is obtained the ineffective component of the hedge is recognised in profit or loss 

• debt/equity classification – some financial instruments previously classified as equity instruments or 
compound financial instruments may instead be reclassified as debt under A-IFRS, reducing net assets 
and impacting future profitability as distributions will be expensed 

• derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities – the specific requirements for derecognition can 
change outcomes, especially in relation to special-purpose entities (SPEs) and in-substance defeasances 
which do no result in derecognition under A-IFRS 

• impairment of financial assets – impairment is determined on an ‘incurred but not reported’ basis and 
measured by reference to discounted cash flows, meaning that many entities will need to revise their 
policies and procedures surrounding impairment, including the determination of bad and doubtful debts 
allowances. 

2.1.3 Transitional adjustments 
Comparative information in relation to financial instruments can optionally not be restated on transition to 
A-IFRS.  There are certain other mandatory and optional exceptions that must be applied in specific 
circumstances including in relation to derecognition of financial assets and liabilities before 1 January 2004 
and hedge accounting.  

The classification and designation of financial instruments in existence at the date of transition (or modified 
date of transition if the option to not restate comparatives is utilised) is performed at that date and does not 
require retrospective application to the date that each financial instrument was initially recognised.  However, 
hedge accounting principles can only be applied prospectively from the date of transition where all 
classification and designation criteria are met at the date (or modified date) of transition. 
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2.1.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Off-balance sheet financial assets and liabilities 

A-IFRS requires the recognition of all financial assets and financial liabilities, including all derivatives and 
embedded derivatives, some of which may  not be recognised  under current Australian GAAP.  Accordingly, 
recognition of these financial assets and financial liabilities may significantly change the net asset position of 
the consolidated entity, but the impact of the change will not be known until all financial instruments, 
including any embedded derivatives, are identified, measured and recognised in accordance with the new 
requirements.   

An embedded derivative will have to be separately recognised at fair value from its host contract unless 
certain conditions are met.  Changes in the fair value of the derivative are to be recognised in the income 
statement unless specific hedging criteria are met.  The process of reviewing all contracts (e.g. lease contracts) 
for the existence of such derivatives is time-consuming, and whether any such derivatives exist and the value 
attaching to them, can only be determined subsequent to the review. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities  

Under current Australian GAAP, financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at cost, at fair value, or 
at net market value.  On adoption of A-IFRS, the consolidated entity will be required to classify these 
financial instruments into various specified categories.  The classification of the instrument will affect the 
instrument’s subsequent measurement – at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method,  fair value 
with movements recognised through equity or fair value recognised through the profit and loss.  The 
consolidated entity is evaluating the different options available, but has not made any determination at 
reporting date of the accounting to be adopted, and consequently, the impact of the change on the financial 
statements cannot yet be quantified.  

Impairment of financial assets 

The consolidated entity provides for doubtful debts using an estimate based on historical trends.  Under 
A-IFRS, the entity will no longer be able to provide for doubtful debts on this basis, as a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired only if there is objective evidence as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset – that is, an incurred but not yet reported model rather than 
an expected loss model must be applied.  Consequently, on adoption of A-IFRS, and on an ongoing basis, 
general provisions and expected loss models may no longer be appropriate, which may cause the carrying 
amount of various financial assets to increase. 

Hedge accounting 

The consolidated entity enters into forward exchange contracts for its purchases and sales in order to hedge 
its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates.  Under A-IFRS, hedges are designated as fair value hedges, 
cash flow hedges or hedges of a net investment in a foreign entity, and the accounting differs depending on 
the designation.  Where a hedge is designated as a fair value hedge, changes in the fair value of the hedged 
item and hedging instrument to the extent of the risk hedged are recognised in profit or loss.   Changes in the 
fair value of hedging instruments classified as cash flow hedges or hedges of a net investment in a foreign 
entity are recognised in equity to the extent they are effective  and are recycled to the income statement when 
the hedged transaction affects the profit or loss.  Any movement in fair value of the hedge instrument that is 
not effective is recognised immediately in profit or loss.   

The designation, documentation and effectiveness requirements under A-IFRS may result in some hedges no 
longer qualifying for hedge accounting.  It is not possible to determine the impact of the change in hedging 
requirements until a full analysis of the impact of the standard (including no longer accounting for hedging 
instruments under hedge accounting) has been conducted. 
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Derecognition of financial assets  

Under current Australian GAAP, financial assets (such as receivables) are derecognised where control of the 
asset has been passed and the entity is entitled to reliably measurable economic benefits.  A-IFRS prescribes 
more rigorous criteria that must be met before a financial asset can be derecognised, including specific 
conditions that must exist before a transfer can be said to have occurred, including the transfer of 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the financial asset in question.  Transfers that do not qualify for 
derecognition will have to be treated as collateralised borrowings, subject to the exceptions required on 
transition. 

2.1.5 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management to consider include: 

• what financial instruments will be recognised for the first time under the new requirements? 

• what are the key variables in the measurement of financial instruments that will create volatility in 
reported net assets and profits or losses? 

• what options in relation to financial instruments provide the optimal outcome at the date of transition 
and on an on-going basis? 

• how have the entity’s financial instruments been assessed and categorised?  Have sensitivity analyses 
been performed where options exist in categorisation, e.g. designation of certain instruments as fair value 
through the profit and loss? 

• what approach is to be taken in relation to hedge accounting?  What hedges have remained off balance 
sheet in the past but will now be recognised?  What factors have been considered when assessing 
whether or not to adopt hedge accounting? 

• has an analysis of the current economic objectives of the entity’s various hedge policies been performed 
in light of the new accounting requirements?  Can the same or a better economic outcome be achieved 
without an unfavourable accounting outcome? 

• will the option to not restate comparatives be adopted?  If so, what is the expected impact on reported 
net assets and the profit or loss when compared to the first reported period?  Will analysts and other 
users of the financial report understand the reasons for the movements? 

• what are the impacts on the entity’s treasury and financial reporting systems?  Has any necessary capital 
expenditure and/or software upgrades and licences been adequately provided for in forecasts and 
budgets? 
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2.2 Business combinations 
Key pronouncements AASB 3 Business Combinations 

Future developments ED 133 ‘Request for Comment on IASB ED of Proposed Amendments to 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations – Combinations by Contract Alone or Involving Mutual 
Entities’ 

The IASB and FASB are jointly working on ‘Phase II’ of the Business 
Combinations Project which is likely to see further substantial changes to 
accounting for business combinations 

Commercial impact High, depending upon the nature and types of past and planned business 
combinations and the options taken on transition 

Effort to implement High 

Main entities affected Major corporate groups, those with past or planned business combinations 

Industries where contingent liabilities or restructurings commonly occur in 
conjunction with business combinations 

Industries with significant intangibles including customer contract and 
relationship intangibles 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004/04 ‘IASB issues standards on business combinations, intangibles 
and impairment’ 

Accounting Alert 2002/17 ‘Business combination exposure draft released’ 

Accounting Alert 2002/13 ‘Current developments in accounting for business combinations’ 

IAS Plus Newsletter ‘Special Global Edition – IASB Publishes IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations’    

2.2.1 Overview 
A business combination involves the bringing together of two or more entities or businesses into one 
reporting entity.  A business combination cannot occur if no business is acquired, or if control already exists. 

All business combinations must be accounted for using the ‘purchase method’, which requires the 
identification of an ‘acquirer’ which may not be the same as the acquirer from a legal perspective. 

The total cost of the combination is allocated to the acquiree’s assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities on 
the basis of their fair values.  Prescriptive guidance is provided on the determination of the fair values of 
various items.  Identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination must be recognised separately 
from goodwill when accounting for the business combination unless strict criteria are met.  Restructuring 
provisions cannot be recognised unless they are a pre-existing liability of the acquiree. 

The excess of the cost of a business combination over the aggregate of the fair values of the acquired assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree must be recognised as goodwill.  If the aggregate fair values 
are higher than the cost of the combination, income is recognised for the excess, after the reassessment of the 
fair values of the acquired assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. 

Goodwill is not amortised, but is allocated to individual cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating 
units) and is subject to an annual impairment test. 

IAS PLUS
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2.2.2 Key changes 
Key changes include: 

• discount on acquisition - where the total cost of a business combination is less than the aggregate fair 
values of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired, the excess is recognised as a gain in the 
profit or loss 

• acquisitions that are not business combinations – acquisitions that do not represent a business are 
outside the scope of the requirements 

• reverse acquisitions – the requirement to fair value is restricted to the acquiree’s net assets and 
contingent liabilities, meaning that the acquirer entity retains its existing book values and thereby limits 
the quantum of fair value uplifts recognised in transactions 

• goodwill amortisation – whilst amortisation will not be recognised on a year-on-year basis, the 
impairment tests are strict and may lead to volatility in reported profits 

• fair values – the ‘rules based’ requirements for the determination of fair values can be different to past 
practice and lead to recorded amounts that are different to current requirements, e.g. market appraisal 
for plant and equipment, recognition of all beneficial and onerous contracts.  There is also a 12 month 
limit on adjustments to accounting estimates used when measuring the fair values of assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination. 

• contingent liabilities – the separate recognition of contingent liabilities acquired in a business 
combination will increase the amount of goodwill recognised 

• restructuring provisions – the recognition of liabilities for restructuring costs will be much more difficult, 
leading to the recognition of restructuring expenditure as an expense in the period after the combination, 
e.g. redundancies, closures 

2.2.3 Transitional adjustments 
Only business combinations that occur after the date of transition are required to be accounted for in 
accordance with the new requirements. 

The requirements can be retrospectively applied to any business combination that occurred before the date of 
transition, so long as all subsequent business combinations are also restated and the revised requirements in 
relation to impairment and intangibles are also applied from the same date. 

Where a prior business combination is not restated, only very limited adjustments are permitted to the 
original acquisition accounting.  In particular, goodwill can only be adjusted in very specific circumstances.  
However, all A-IFRS assets and liabilities must still be recognised, with adjustments recognised in opening 
retained earnings rather than by adjusting the original acquisition entry, other than adjustments related to 
intangible assets. 
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2.2.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Business combinations 

Historically, the acquisition of an entity or operation is accounted for under the purchase method of 
accounting by the legal acquirer.  Where consolidated financial statements are prepared, the assets and 
liabilities purchased are initially recognised at their fair values in the consolidated financial statements.   

Under A-IFRS, the purchase method of accounting must also be applied where there is a business 
combination, however, not all past transactions treated as acquisitions would be considered a business 
combination, and as such the purchase method of accounting for these acquisitions will no longer be 
appropriate.  In addition, the legal acquirer may not be the ‘acquirer’ per A-IFRS, and the consolidated 
financial statements may consequently reflect the fair values of the legal acquirer’s assets and liabilities rather 
than the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the entity legally acquired. 

Furthermore, there are a number of recognition and measurement differences that result in relation to assets 
and liabilities acquired in a business combination, particularly in relation to intangible assets and restructuring 
provisions.  Acquired contingent liabilities must also be recognised at their fair values where acquired in a 
business combination. 

The impact of these changes in accounting policy on first-time adoption will depend on whether the 
consolidated entity elects to adopt the exemption available to it to not reopen past acquisitions and 
retrospectively account for them in accordance with the new requirements.  On an ongoing basis, this change 
in policy may significantly affect the profit and loss and balance sheet, as the accounting going forward 
significantly differs from the manner in which such transactions are treated under current Australian GAAP. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill is currently amortised over a 20 year period.  A-IFRS does not permit goodwill to be amortised, but 
instead requires the carrying amount to be tested for impairment at least annually.  Goodwill currently 
recognised in the balance sheet, adjusted if necessary on the optional restatement of business combinations, 
must be allocated to individual cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) and tested for 
impairment at the allocated level.  This change in policy may result in increased volatility in the profit and 
loss, where impairment losses are likely to occur.   

2.2.5 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management to consider include: 

• what is the current intention in relation to the choice to restate past business combinations?  How was 
this choice made? 

• if past business combinations are not to be restated, what assets and liabilities related to past business 
combinations will nevertheless still need to be recognised or derecognised and what impact will this have 
on retained earnings? 

• what goodwill balance remains at the date of transition? 

• what processes have been put into place to allocate goodwill to cash-generating units for the 
performance of impairment testing?  Are impairment losses likely in relation to goodwill as a result of 
this process? 

• what business combinations are likely or planned?  Has the application of the new requirements been 
assessed in relation to these combinations? 
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2.3 Intangible assets 
Key pronouncements AASB 138 Intangible Assets 

UIG Interpretation 132 Intangible Assets – Web Site Costs 

Future developments The IASB has a long-term project to reassess accounting for intangible assets

Commercial impact High 

Effort to implement High 

Main entities affected Entities with revalued intangible assets 

Entities with significant research and development or start-up expenditures 

Industries where short-lived intangible assets commonly arise in business 
combinations, e.g. telecommunications 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004/04 ‘IASB issues standards on business combinations, intangibles 
and impairment’ 

Publishing Industry: The Future of Intangibles under IAS   

2.3.1 Overview 
An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance.  An intangible asset is 
identifiable when it is either separable or arises from contractual or other rights.  Outside of a business 
combination, intangible assets must be recognised if they meet the ‘probable’ criterion and the cost of the 
asset can be measured reliably.  Intangible assets acquired in a business combination must be recognised if 
their fair value can be measured reliably. 

Intangible assets cannot be recognised in relation to: 

• internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in 
substance 

• research activities 

• development activities, unless strict criteria are met 

• start-up costs, including establishment costs, pre-opening costs and pre-operating costs 

• expenditure on training, advertising and promotional activities 

• expenditure on relocating or reorganising part or all of an entity. 

Intangible assets must be initially measured at cost and can only be revalued if there is an ‘active market’.  An 
active market cannot exist for brands, newspaper mastheads, music and film publishing rights, patents or 
trademarks, because each such asset is unique. 

The useful lives of intangible assets must be assessed.  Renewal periods under contractual and other legal 
rights can be included in the assessment of useful where they can be renewed by the entity without significant 
cost.  Where the useful life is indefinite, no amortisation is recognised but the asset is subject to an annual 
impairment test.  Where there useful life is finite, the asset is amortised over the useful life with a 
presumption that the residual value is zero unless certain conditions are met.   

IAS PLUS 
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2.3.2 Key changes 
Key changes include: 

• intangibles arising in business combinations – these must be recognised if the criteria are met, leading to 
more intangibles being recognised on the balance sheet 

• mandatory expensing of certain costs – expenditure on internally generated intangibles, research and 
development and start-up costs will be required to be expensed as incurred, leading to an earlier impact 
on reported profitability and lower reported net assets 

• prohibition on revaluation of intangible assets unless there is an ‘active market’ – many entities will be 
required to derecognise revalued intangibles on transition to A-IFRS 

• non-amortisation of intangibles with indefinite useful lives – although not amortised, these intangibles 
will be required to be tested for impairment annually. 

2.3.3 Transitional adjustments 
In general terms, full retrospective application of the new policies is required.  However, where intangible 
assets have arisen in relation to past business combinations which are not restated, these will not be affected 
unless they do not qualify for recognition under A-IFRS, in which case they are subsumed into goodwill. 

2.3.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Internally-generated intangible assets 

The consolidated entity recognises internally-generated brand names and customer lists as assets.  These 
assets are measured at fair value and amortised over a 20 year useful life.  Internally-generated brand names 
and customer lists cannot be recognised under A-IFRS, and accordingly, the consolidated entity will 
derecognise any such assets on initial adoption of A-IFRS.  Any corresponding revaluation increment 
recognised as part of the asset revaluation reserve will be reversed and adjustments to derecognise past 
amortisation will be made against opening retained earnings. 

Revaluation of purchased intangible assets other than goodwill 

The consolidated entity has acquired a number of different intangible assets as a result of past acquisitions.  
These assets are measured on the fair value basis and amortised over a 10 year useful life.  The revaluation of 
an intangible asset (other than goodwill) is only permitted under A-IFRS where an active market exists for the 
asset.  The consolidated entity’s initial evaluation suggests that no active market exists for its intangible assets 
and consequently the consolidated entity will be required to change its policy in relation to the treatment of 
such intangible assets on transition to A-IFRS.  The consolidated entity will be required to recognise these 
assets at their original cost (fair value) at the date of acquisition.  Adjustments will be required to derecognise 
post-acquisition revaluations of the intangible assets, resulting in a reduction in the carrying amount of the 
assets and the elimination of the associated asset revaluation reserve.  Opening retained earnings will also be 
increased by an amount equivalent to the amortisation previously expensed in relation to revaluation 
increments. 

Should the consolidated entity elect to restate past business combinations, the consolidated entity will be 
required to reassess the intangible assets that originally arose from each combination, and it may result in 
different intangible assets being recognised.  Where these intangible assets have limited useful lives, 
adjustments may also be made to reflect amortisation since the original acquisition date. 

If past business combinations are not restated, certain intangible assets may need to be derecognised on 
transition to A-IFRS where they do not satisfy the relevant recognition criteria.  In these cases, the carrying 
amounts of these intangible assets at the date of transition will be subsumed into the carrying amount of 
goodwill. 
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Research and development  

Under the consolidated entity’s current accounting policies, research and development costs are deferred to 
the extent that they are expected, beyond any reasonable doubt, to be recoverable.  Under A-IFRS, research 
costs will no longer be permitted to be deferred and will be immediately expensed.  While development costs 
may still be deferred, more stringent recognition requirements will apply.  Accordingly, opening retained 
earnings will be decreased to the extent of any deferred research costs and any development costs that may 
need to be derecognised.  On an ongoing basis, the effect of the change is that it may be more difficult to 
capitalise such costs, resulting in a lower net asset balance sheet position when compared with current 
Australian GAAP, and creating volatility in the profit and loss as more costs will have to be expensed as 
incurred. 

2.3.5 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management to consider include: 

• which of the intangible assets currently recognised by the entity will remain recognised under A-IFRS?  
Which will be derecognised or adjusted? 

• how will the current amortisation policy for intangible assets be impacted? 

• what impact will the derecognition of revalued intangible assets have on the balance sheet, and what flow 
on effects will this have on other areas, e.g. banking covenants, thin capitalisation calculations, etc? 

• has any impact on intangible assets been taken into account in the decision as to whether or not to 
restate past business combinations? 
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2.4 Impairment of assets 
Key pronouncements AASB 136 Impairment of Assets 

Future developments ED 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources proposes to modify the 
application of the impairment test in the extractive industries (see section 4.2)

Commercial impact High 

Effort to implement High, due to detailed requirements 

Main entities affected These requirements will have a pervasive impact on the majority of 
Australian entities 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004/04 ‘IASB issues standards on business combinations, intangibles 
and impairment’ 

2.4.1 Overview 
Impairment must be tested for all assets, both current and non-current, and including those measured on the 
cost and revaluation basis.  There are scope exemptions from the general requirements for assets tested under 
their own specific requirements, e.g. inventories, financial instruments and deferred tax assets. 

The recoverable amount of an asset must be determined if there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.  
There are a number of factors that must be assessed as a minimum in making that assessment.  However, 
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or those not yet ready for use are required to be 
tested for impairment at least annually. 

If an asset cannot be tested individually, i.e. it does not generate independent cash flows, then it must be 
tested as part of the ‘cash-generating unit’ to which it belongs.  There is strict guidance on the determination 
of cash-generating units. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its ‘fair value less costs to sell’ and ‘value in use’.  Strict 
guidance is provided on the determination of value in use, including a requirement to discount cash flows, 
exclude the impacts of future capital expenditure and restructurings and to take into account risks specific to 
the asset or cash-generating unit. 

There are special requirements in relation the testing of impairment for goodwill, intangible assets and 
corporate assets. 

Prior impairment losses are required to be reversed in some circumstances where conditions change.  
However, impairment losses for goodwill can never be reversed. 

2.4.2 Key changes 
Key changes include: 

• more prescriptive impairment tests – the wider scope and stricter impairment tests will tend to lead to 
impairment losses occurring more often 

• impairment testing for goodwill and indefinite life intangibles by cash generating unit – although not 
amortised, these assets need to allocated to cash-generating units and tested for impairment on at least an 
annual basis, potentially leading to impairment losses occurring more often as these assets may be 
assessed at a more detailed, lower level 

• mandatory reversal of prior impairment losses – the requirement to reverse impairment losses in certain 
cases will create volatility in the balance sheet and may lead to difficulties in budgets and forecasts due to 
the impacts on profits from reversal of the losses themselves and the related impacts on future 
amortisation and depreciation. 
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2.4.3 Transitional adjustments 
There are no special exceptions to the impairment testing requirements on transition.  Where past business 
combinations are restated, the impairment standard must also be applied from the date of the earliest restated 
business combination.  A mandatory impairment test is required at the date of transition in relation to 
goodwill 

2.4.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Impairment of assets 

Non-current assets are written down to recoverable amount when the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
recoverable amount.  Historically, although not mandated, the consolidated entity has discounted cash flows 
in determining the recoverable amount of its non-current assets.   

Under A-IFRS, both current and non-current assets, including property, plant and equipment previously 
excluded as they were measured on the fair value basis, are tested for impairment.  In addition, A-IFRS has  a 
more prescriptive impairment test, and restricts the cash flows permitted where value in use is used to assess 
recoverable amount..  Consequently, on adoption of A-IFRS, a further impairment of certain assets may need 
to be recognised, thereby decreasing opening retained earnings and the carrying amount of assets – the 
consolidated entity has not yet determined the impact, if any, of any further impairment which may be 
required.  It is not practicable to determine the impact of the change in accounting policy for future financial 
reports, as any impairment or reversal thereof will be affected by future conditions. 

2.4.5 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management to consider include: 

• how are assets currently assessed for impairment and what major changes will be required to apply the 
new requirements? 

• at what level in the business will cash generating units be determined?  Is this at a lower level than under 
current A-GAAP? 

• how is management proposing to allocate existing and future goodwill for the purposes of testing 
impairment? 

• have any assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units) been identified that may be impaired?  If so, 
what factors are causing these potential impairment losses and what are the flow-on impacts on the 
balance sheet and other areas, e.g. covenants? 

• what process has been put in place to determine the key variables and assumptions used in recoverable 
amount calculations?  At what level in the organisation will these be developed and approved? 

• what are the key indicators of impairment that management intends to use to identify future potential 
impairments? 
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2.5 Income taxes 
Key pronouncements AASB 112 Income Taxes 

UIG Interpretation 121 Income Taxes – Recovery of Revalued Non-depreciable 
Assets 

UIG Interpretation 125 Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or 
its Shareholders 

UIG Interpretation 1039 Substantive Enactment of Major Tax Bills in Australia 

UIG Interpretation 1052 Tax Consolidation Accounting 

Future developments UIG has not finalised UIG Interpretation 1052 on accounting for tax 
consolidation due to concerns regarding compliance with IFRS 

IAS 12 Income Taxes is part of the IASB’s ‘Convergence Project’ - changes 
are likely in the medium term 

Commercial impact High - major corporate groups 

Effort to implement High - information gathering and systems requirements 

Main entities affected Major corporate groups will be most impacted 

All entities will need to consider new methodologies to account for income 
taxes 

Other publications Accounting for Income Taxes 

2.5.1 Overview 
A-IFRS deals with the recognition and measurement of ‘current tax’ and ‘deferred tax’ using the so-called 
‘comprehensive balance sheet’ approach to accounting for taxes. 

Current taxes are measured by reference to the amounts owing to the tax authorities.  Where there is a 
‘temporary difference’ between the carrying amount of an asset or liability and its tax base, this will give rise 
to deferred tax liabilities or assets that are recognised, subject to certain limited exceptions. 

Current and deferred taxes are required to be recognised directly in equity or as part of accounting for a 
business combination in some circumstances. 

2.5.2 Key changes 
Key changes include the following: 

• use of management’s expectations when measuring deferred taxes – the amount of deferred taxes 
recognised can change if management changes its intention in relation to an asset, e.g. sale or use of a 
building 

• recognition criteria for deferred tax assets – deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
considered ‘probable’ that the entity will have sufficient taxable profits against which the deferred tax 
assets can be utilised.  This is a significantly easier test than the ‘beyond any reasonable doubt’ and 
‘virtually certain’ tests required under superseded A-GAAP 

• business combinations – deferred taxes are usually recognised in relation to fair value adjustments arising 
in business combinations, including those associated with intangible assets (other than goodwill) 

• investments – deferred taxes may be recognised in relation to the difference between the book value and 
tax base (tax value) of investments, e.g. any taxes to be paid on equity accounted profits when realised by 
the investor are accrued when equity accounted profits are recognised 
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• investments in subsidiaries – any taxes to be paid on distribution of profits or sale of the investment may 
be recognised earlier than under current A-GAAP i.e. when the uplift in asset values is recognised by the 
subsidiary and there is an intention to distribute or sell in the foreseeable future 

• foreign currency – deferred taxes can arise where the entity’s tax paying currency is different to its 
functional currency, and where entities are translated to the reporting entity’s presentation currency. 

2.5.3 Transitional adjustments 
Full retrospective adjustments are required.  There are optional exceptions in relation to the restatement of 
past business combinations under AASB 1.  However, deferred taxes arising in past business combinations 
(i.e. deferred taxes on fair value uplift not previously recognised under A-GAAP) must still be recognised as 
part of the opening retained earnings adjustment if they are not retrospectively adjusted against the original 
acquisition entry where the business combination is restated. 

2.5.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Income taxes 

The consolidated entity currently recognises deferred taxes by accounting for the differences between 
accounting profits and taxable income, which give rise to ‘permanent’ and ‘timing’ differences.  Under 
A-IFRS, deferred taxes are measured by reference to the ‘temporary differences’ determined as the difference 
between the carrying amount and tax base of assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet. 

Because A-IFRS has a wider scope than the entity’s current accounting policies, it is likely that the amount of 
deferred taxes recognised in the balance sheet will increase.  In particular, significant increases in deferred tax 
liabilities are anticipated in relation to deferred taxes associated with fair value adjustments and intangibles 
arising in relation to pre-transition business combinations, revaluations of land and buildings and investments 
in associates. 

The consolidated entity also has carried forward tax losses which have not been recognised as deferred tax 
assets as they do not satisfy the ‘virtually certain’ criteria under current Australian GAAP.  Under A-IFRS, it 
may be easier to recognise these tax losses as deferred tax assets as they are recognised based on a ‘probable’ 
recognition criteria.  The impact of this difference may be to increase deferred tax assets and opening retained 
earnings, and result in a higher level of recognised deferred tax assets on a go-forward basis. 

Adjustments to the recognised amounts of deferred taxes will also result as a consequence of adjustments to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities resulting from the adoption of other A-IFRS.  The likely impact 
of these changes on deferred tax balances has not currently been determined. 

2.5.5 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management to consider include: 

• has management determined which of the major impact areas associated with deferred taxes will affect 
the entity? 

• are current systems of accounting for income taxes adequate, or will they need to be reconsidered as part 
of the overall A-IFRS implementation project? 

• what process has been put into place to determine the tax bases of the various assets and liabilities of the 
entity?  Are major changes expected when compared to current practice? 

• what is the impact of recognising deferred taxes on past business combinations and will the impact of 
recognising these deferred taxes in retained earnings cause the entity to consider restating prior 
combinations? 



Major impact areas 
Property, plant and equipment 

 

An overview of Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 21 

2.6 Property, plant and equipment 
Key pronouncements AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment 

AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinuing Operations 

AASB 140 Investment Property 

UIG Interpretation 1 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and 
Similar Liabilities 

UIG Interpretation 1030 Depreciation of Long-Lived Physical Assets: Condition-
Based Depreciation and Related Methods 

Commercial impact Medium 

Effort to implement Medium 

Main entities impacted Most entities will be impacted due to the information gathering and 
systems requirements 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004-08 ‘Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 
operations’  

Accounting Alert 2004-06 ‘International convergence update (including impacts on 
30 June 2004 reports)’ 

Accounting Alert 2004-04 ‘International convergence update’ 

IAS Plus Newsletter ‘Special Global Edition – IASB Publishes IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’   

2.6.1 Overview 
A-IFRS comprehensively deals with the initial recognition, subsequent expenditure and derecognition of 
tangible assets. 

The initial recognition of property, plant and equipment must include the (discounted) expected costs of 
dismantling and removing an asset and restoring the site on which the asset was created.  Proceeds from 
selling items (such as the sale of samples from testing equipment) must be deducted from the cost of the 
asset.  However, other incidental revenues and expenses cannot be capitalised into the cost of the asset, e.g. 
use of vacant land during development. 

After initial recognition, property, plant and equipment may either be measured on the cost basis or fair value 
basis.  Where assets are measured on the fair value basis, revaluation increments and decrements can only be 
offset on an asset-by-asset basis. 

Depreciation of assets must be based on the useful life and residual value to the entity.  The residual value of 
the asset must be reassessed on a regular basis by reference to the current net amount expected from the 
disposal of the asset as if it were already at the age and condition expected at the end of its useful life. 

Assets or components of assets must be derecognised where they are replaced.  Major overhaul costs can be 
recognised as a component and amortised over the period between overhauls.  Assets meeting certain 
conditions and that are held for sale must be disclosed separately in the balance sheet.  These assets are 
carried on the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and cannot be further depreciated. 

Assets that satisfy the definition of an ‘investment property’ may either be measured on the cost basis in 
accordance with the above requirements, or measured on a fair value basis, with increments and decrements 
being recognised in the profit and loss. 

IAS PLUS 
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2.6.2 Key changes 
Key changes include: 

• annual reassessment of residual values – this may require systems changes and may have significant 
impacts on on-going depreciation expense, particularly where the residual values might be expected to 
change from period to period, e.g. land and buildings 

• capitalisation of decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities – the requirements in this area are 
quite complex and amounts may not be easily determined due to the long-time frames commonly 
involved 

• revaluations – revaluation increments and decrements must be accounted for on an asset-by-asset basis, 
leading to complex record keeping requirements and potential volatility in reported profits where some 
assets increase in value and others decrease in value 

• componentisation – the derecognition requirements can lead to expenses being recognised where 
components have not been adequately tracked and separately depreciated at the time of initial 
recognition 

• investment properties – choices must be made whether to use the cost basis and depreciate the asset, or 
to use the revaluation basis and potentially recognise significant volatility in earnings. 

2.6.3 Transitional adjustments 
Entities may elect to ‘reset’ the cost of assets at the date of transition by reference to the fair values of those 
assets, either at the date of transition or a pre-transition revaluation that was broadly comparable to fair value 
at the time of the revaluation.  This choice is available regardless of whether the assets are measured using the 
cost or revaluation basis post-transition. 

Where cost is not reset based on fair value, the ‘true’ A-IFRS cost must be determined. 

Special requirements exist in relation to decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities at the date of 
transition.  Full retrospective application of UIG Interpretation 1 is not required, but a modified approach to 
the determination of the amount of the liability that would have been recognised and capitalised into the asset 
is required to be performed. 

2.6.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Property, plant and equipment 

On transition to A-IFRS, the consolidated entity has several options in the determination of the cost of each 
tangible asset, and can also elect to use the cost or fair value basis for the measurement of each class of 
property, plant and equipment after transition.  At the date of this report, the consolidated entity has not 
decided which options and measurement basis will be adopted and the likely impacts therefore cannot be 
determined. 

The consolidated entity currently measures its buildings and land at fair value.  Under current Australian 
GAAP, revaluation increments and decrements within a class of assets must be set-off, however, A-IFRS 
requires revaluations to be tracked on an individual asset-by-asset basis.  This change in accounting policy 
may result in the recognition of impairment losses in the profit and loss even though the class of assets has 
increased in value. 

A-IFRS specifically requires the capitalisation of costs of dismantling and removing an asset and restoring the 
site on which the asset was created when an asset is initially recognised.  The consolidated entity currently 
accrues through profit and loss for the costs of dismantling and restoration over the life of the asset.  
Adjustments may be required to the liability recognised where the amount accrued at the date of transition 
under current A-GAAP differs from that required under A-IFRS  The entity is also still determining the 
adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets that may result from these requirements.   
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Depreciation  

Under current Australian GAAP, the consolidated entity’s property, plant and equipment is depreciated to 
the extent of its depreciable amount, determined as the difference between carrying amount and residual 
value.  The residual amount used in the determination of recoverable amount is estimated at the date of 
acquisition and is not subsequently increased for changes in prices, except where the asset had been revalued.  
Under A-IFRS, the residual amount is reviewed at each balance date and revised to the current net amount 
expected from the disposal of the asset if it were already at the age and condition expected at the end of its 
useful life.  Accordingly, changes to the residual value may introduce additional volatility in the profit or loss. 

Investment properties 

The consolidated entity treats several of its properties as investment properties and accounts for them on the 
fair value basis.  Under A-IFRS, the consolidated entity will be able to continue to value its investment 
properties at fair value, however, all revaluation movements will be recognised through profit or loss rather 
than through the asset revaluation reserve  Accordingly, on initial adoption of A-IFRS, opening retained 
earnings will be adjusted to reverse any amounts in the asset revaluation reserve relating to movements in the 
fair value of the investment properties, and it will be necessary for the profit and loss to reflect both a 
revaluation increment as income and revaluation decrement as an expense in future financial years. 

The consolidated entity has the option of changing its accounting policy to value investment properties at 
cost (less accumulated depreciation) going forward, but has not yet determined whether it will elect to adopt 
this alternative accounting policy. 

2.6.5 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management to consider include: 

• what options, both at date of transition and on a go forward basis, have been chosen (or are likely to be 
chosen) when determining the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and why? 

• have our systems for property, plant and equipment been reviewed to ensure that they can track the 
information necessary, particularly residual values and componentisation?  

• what decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities currently exist in relation to our property, plant 
and equipment?  What assumptions and variables have been used in determining any amounts capitalised 
into our assets? 
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2.7 Employee benefits 
Key pronouncements AASB 119 Employee Benefits 

Future developments ED 131 Request for Comment on IASB ED of Proposed Amendments to IAS 19 
Employee Benefits: Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures 

IFRIC Draft Interpretation D6 Multi-employer Plans 

IFRIC Draft Interpretation D9 Employee Benefit Plans with a Promised Return on 
Contributions or Notional Contributions 

IASB has a long-term agenda item to reconsider accounting for defined 
benefit plans 

Commercial impact High 

Effort to implement High 

Main entities impacted Entities that sponsor defined benefit superannuation plans 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004/04 ‘International convergence update’ 

Accounting Alert 2004/10 ‘Proposed amendments to AASB 119 Employee Benefits’ 

2.7.1 Overview 
A-IFRS prescribes general and specific recognition and measurement criteria for employee benefits.  Specific 
requirements are provided in relation to wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, compensated absences 
(such as annual, sick and long service leave), some profit sharing and bonus plans, termination benefits and 
post-employment benefits. 

Liabilities that arise in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at their nominal amounts, 
whereas long-term employee benefit liabilities are measured at their present values. 

There are complex requirements in relation to post-employment benefits, particularly those involving defined 
benefit superannuation plans.  Unlike the international standard on which they are based, A-IFRS requires the 
immediate recognition of actuarial gains and losses and does not permit the so-called ‘corridor’ approach to 
recognition of these items. 

2.7.2 Key changes 
Key changes include the following: 

• accounting for defined benefit plans – full recognition of a liability or asset for surpluses and deficits in 
defined benefit superannuation plans, requiring complex calculations and resulting in volatility in 
reported profitability 

• employment benefit liabilities expected to be settled beyond twelve months from balance date – these 
must be discounted where material. 

2.7.3 Transitional adjustments 
Full retrospective adjustments are required.  The option of resetting the so-called ‘corridor’ available under 
international standards is not available in Australia due to the prohibition on using this method of accounting 
for defined benefit funds. 
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2.7.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Defined benefit plans 

The consolidated entity sponsors three defined benefit plans.  Contributions to the plan are expensed when 
due and payable and no assets or liabilities are recognised in relation to these plans in the financial report of 
the consolidated entity as the consolidated entity has no legal or constructive obligation to fund any shortfall 
nor does it control any surplus assets.  Under A-IFRS, the consolidated entity will be required to recognise 
the surplus or deficit of these plans in its balance sheet, with the resulting movement recognised in its income 
statement.  This change in policy is anticipated to have a significant effect on the financial statements, both 
on transition and on an ongoing basis, and is likely to introduce more volatility in the income statement.  The 
surplus or deficit to be recognised is unlikely to be the amount disclosed in the notes to this financial report, 
as the method of determining the surplus, under A-IFRS  is not the same as required to be disclosed under 
current A-GAAP.   

2.7.5 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management of entities that sponsor defined benefit 
funds include: 

• how are the amounts to be recognised in the financial statements being determined?  Have actuaries 
been appointed to calculate the transitional position for the entity? 

• what processes need to be put in place to ensure any information disclosed is accurate and timely in 
future reporting periods? 

• have we reached an agreement with the manager of the super fund on these issues? 



Major impact areas 
Share-based payments 

 

An overview of Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 26 

2.8 Share-based payments 
Key pronouncements AASB 2 Share-based Payment 

Commercial impact High, for entities with share-based payments 

Effort to implement Medium 

Main entities impacted Those where there are employee share or option schemes, or other payments 
in equity instruments, e.g. techonology companies, major listed 

Other publications IAS Plus Newsletter ‘IASB Publishes IFRS 2 Share-based 
Payment’    

Accounting Alert 2002/15 ‘Share-based payments exposure drafts issued’ 

‘Share-based Payment: A guide to IFRS 2’   

Discussion Paper 2002/01 ‘Current developments in share-based payments’ 

2.8.1 Overview 
An expense is generally required to be recognised for all share-based payment transactions where an entity 
receives or acquires goods or services (including of employees) as consideration for equity instruments of the 
entity, or by incurring liabilities for amounts based on the price of the entity’s shares or other equity 
instruments of the entity.  This requirement does not apply to share-based payment transactions other than 
for the acquisition of goods and services, such as share dividends, share buy-backs or the issue of new shares, 
nor to transactions with employees in their capacity as holders of shares and other equity instruments. 

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with either no performance hurdles, or only non-market 
based performance features, are accounted for under a ‘true-up’ model – the amount ultimately expensed will 
equal the multiple of the total number of vested instruments and each instrument’s fair value determined at 
the grant date.  The ‘true up’ model is not applied in relation to market-based performance conditions, but 
these conditions are instead taken into account in the measurement of the fair value of the instrument at 
grant date. 

Cash settled share-based payment transactions are measured at the fair value of the liability at each reporting 
date. 

Depending on the type of share-based payment, fair value may be determined by the value of the shares or 
rights to shares given up, or by the value of the goods and services received.  Where share-based payments 
are with employees, the transaction should be measured by reference to the equity instrument granted.  The 
fair value must be determined by reference to market prices for the shares or rights to shares with similar 
characteristics, or if no market price exists, by applying a valuation technique that takes into account various 
factors, i.e. an option pricing model such as Black-Scholes, binomial model, etc. 

There are special requirements in relation to share-based payments with cash alternatives, where the fair value 
of instruments cannot be reliably measured and in relation to modifications, cancellations and settlements of 
instruments. 

IAS PLUS 

IAS PLUS 
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2.8.2 Key changes 
Key changes include: 

• expense recognition – share-based payments will lead to the recognition of an expense in the income 
statement, with a corresponding increase in equity.  Depending upon the nature of the share-based 
payment transactions and other factors, this can introduce considerable volatility into reported profits 

• use of valuation techniques – the use of complex calculation methodologies requires understanding of 
the key variables 

• employee share purchase plan trusts – consideration will need to be given as to whether these trusts will 
need to be consolidated by the employer entity. 

2.8.3 Transitional adjustments 
Retrospective application of the share-based payment requirements is only mandated for: 

• equity-settled transactions granted after 7 November 2002 and not yet vested before the later of the date 
of transition and 1 January 2005 

• cash-settled transactions that are not settled before the later of the date of transition and 1 January 2005. 

Subject to certain conditions, an entity may elect to retrospectively apply the requirements to other share-
based payments.  In the case of equity-settled transactions, the fair value of the instruments to which the 
standard has been retrospectively applied must have been publicly disclosed. 

2.8.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Share-based payments 

Share-based compensation forms part of the remuneration of employees of the consolidated entity (including 
executives) as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements  The consolidated entity does not recognise an 
expense for any share-based compensation granted.  Under A-IFRS, the company and consolidated entity will 
be required to recognise an expense for such share-based compensation, . Share-based compensation is 
measured at the fair value of the share options determined at grant date and recognised over the expected 
vesting period of the options.  A reversal of the expense will be required to the extent non-market based 
vesting conditions (e.g. service conditions) are not met.  The entity will not retrospectively recognise share-
based payments vested before 1 January 2005 as permitted under A-IFRS first time adoption  

The recognition of the expense will decrease the consolidated entity’s opening retained earnings on initial 
adoption of A-IFRS and increase share capital by the same amount for share based payments issued after 7 
November 2002 but not vested before 1 January 2005.  Similar impacts will also occur in future periods, 
however, quantification of the impact on equity and in the income statement of the existing share options 
granted as remuneration has not been completed at the reporting date. 

2.8.5 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management to consider include: 

• what share-based payments has the company made or is intending to make in the future? 

• have the company’s existing share and option plans been assessed in light of the standard to determine 
the accounting outcomes?   

• are any changes to the entity’s plans necessary to achieve an optimal outcome under A-IFRS?  Has 
consideration been given to the tax implications of the individual of any changes contemplated? 

• does the company conduct any share purchase plans through trusts that are currently off balance sheet? 
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3 Other areas 
3.1 Format of financial statements 

Key pronouncements AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements 

AASB 107 Cash Flow Statements 

AASB 114 Segment Reporting 

AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures 

AASB 130 Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar 
Institutions 

AASB 133 Earnings Per Share 

AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting 

AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports 

AASB 1046 Directors and Executives Disclosures by Disclosing Entities 

Future developments ED 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures proposes to modify the disclosure 
requirements of AASB 130 and AASB 132. 

The IASB has a post-2005 project to radically amend the format of the 
income statement.  Current proposals involve a ‘matrix’ approach to the 
income statement that would also include comprehensive income. 

Commercial impact Minor 

Effort to implement Medium – systems will generally require redesign 

Main entities affected All entities will be impacted by the changes to the format of the financial 
statements 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004/13 ‘Pending AASB 124 “Related Party Disclosures”’ 

Accounting Alert 2004/04 ‘International convergence update’ 

Accounting Alert 2003/14 ‘International convergence update’ 

IAS Model Financial Reports (under the 2003 versions of IFRS standards)  
  

2004 Consolidated Model Financial Reports 

Addendum to the Deloitte 2004 Consolidated Model Financial Reports – Disclosing 
the impacts of adopting Australian equivalents to IFRS 

IAS PLUS
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3.1.1 Overview 
A-IFRS requires the following financial statements to be prepared: 

• balance sheet 

• income statement 

• statement of changes in equity 

• cash flow statement 

• notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

At least one year of comparatives is required. 

Segment information must be provided for the entity’s primary and secondary segment reporting formats, 
either by business segments or geographical segments, and based on the way in which the entity reports 
internally. 

Listed entities and certain other entities must disclose basic and diluted earnings per share amounts.  The 
dilutive calculation must take into account all ‘potential ordinary shares’ where they are dilutive by reference 
to the average share price of the entity over the relevant period. 

Related party disclosures must be provided in respect of transactions, events and balances with specified 
related parties.  Disclosing entities are also required to make extensive disclosures in relation to the 
remuneration, transactions and balances with specified directors and specified executives. 

Interim financial reports are effectively seen as an ‘update’ of the most recent annual financial report and are 
not required to include the detailed information required at year end. 

Banks and other similar institutions are required to include particular information in relation to their activities 
in the financial report. 

3.1.2 Key changes 
Key changes include: 

• classification of liabilities – borrowings must be classified as current where undertakings or covenants are 
in breach at reporting date, or the facility expires within 12 months of reporting date, unless a waiver has 
been obtained or the facility renegotiated prior to the reporting date 

• new statement of changes in equity – whilst much of the information included is currently disclosed 
elsewhere in financial reports, this may bring new investor and analyst attention to the information 

• cash flow statements – will be required to be prepared by all entities reporting under the Corporations Act 
2001, and will need to include all required disclosures 

• related party disclosures – the nature and types of disclosures required have been amended by the new 
requirements, although disclosing entities will be required to make substantially more disclosures in 
relation to transactions, events and balances with specified directors and specified executives (from 2004) 

3.1.3 Transitional adjustments 
With certain limited exceptions, comparative information throughout the financial report must be fully 
restated in accordance with A-IFRS. 

3.1.4 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management to consider include: 

• what are the current arrangements in relation to our financing facilities?  Should timetables for 
renegotiation and compliance with facilities covenants and conditions be renegotiated to ensure 
borrowings can remain classified as non-current if necessary? 
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3.2 Accounting policies 
Key pronouncements AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements 

AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 

AASB 110 Events After the Balance Sheet Date 

AASB 1031 Materiality 

AASB 1048 Interpretation and Application of Standards 

Commercial impact Minor 

Effort to implement Minor 

Main entities affected All entities will be impacted by the changes to the format of the financial 
statements 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004/04 ‘International convergence update’ 

IAS Model Financial Reports    

2004 Consolidated Model Financial Reports 

Addendum to the Deloitte 2004 Consolidated Model Financial Reports – Disclosing 
the impacts of adopting Australian equivalents to IFRS 

3.2.1 Overview 
Accounting policies used by an entity must be determined by the application of A-IFRS accounting standards, 
or otherwise by reference to policies which are considered relevant and reliable.  Where changes in 
accounting policies occur either voluntarily or as a result of a new pronouncement, they must be fully 
retrospectively applied unless it is impracticable to do so, or where specific transitional provisions exist. 

Changes in accounting estimates must be accounted for on a prospective basis.  Where errors are discovered, 
they must be corrected by fully restating comparative information unless it is impracticable to do so. 

Events occurring after the reporting date that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting 
date must result in adjustments to the financial statements.  Where events are indicative of conditions that 
arose after the reporting date, they must not be adjusted in the financial statements but disclosed elsewhere in 
the financial report. 

Urgent Issues Group Interpretations are made mandatory in application through a specific Accounting 
Standard.  All Standards and Interpretations are subject to a materiality override.  Guidance on materiality is 
provided in an Australian-specific Standard. 

3.2.2 Key changes 
Key changes include: 

• retrospective adjustment for changes in accounting policies and errors – comparative information must 
be restated where voluntary changes in accounting policies or errors occur 

• removal of the concept of ‘fundamental errors’ – no distinction is made between fundamental and other 
errors and all are treated in the same manner, i.e. full restatement of comparative information subject to 
the materiality override. 

IAS PLUS
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3.2.3 Transitional adjustments 
There are a number of mandatory and optional exceptions on transition to A-IFRS that override the general 
requirements on changes to accounting policies, and these are discussed in each section of this document.  
Where errors are identified and corrected as part of the transition process, these are required to be separately 
disclosed.  Furthermore, estimates used at the time of transition must not be updated with the benefit of 
hindsight. 

3.2.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Correction of errors 

An error made in a prior reporting period is presently corrected in the reporting period in which the error is 
discovered by recognising the effect of the error in the current financial statements.  In future financial 
periods, any material prior period errors are to be accounted for retrospectively, i.e. by adjusting the opening 
balance of retained earnings of the comparative period.  Accordingly, the identification of a material prior 
period error will no longer give rise to volatility in the current period income statement. 

3.2.5 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management to consider include: 

• have any errors in past accounting practices been identified as part of the transition process?  If so, what 
caused these errors and how are they being treated on transition? 

• what process has been put in place to determine the key estimates required at the date of transition 
(1 July 2004 for entities with a June year end)? 
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3.3 Framework and revenue 
Key pronouncements Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements 

AASB 118 Revenue 

AASB 120 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 
Assistance 

UIG Interpretation 110 Government Assistance – No Specific Relation to 
Operating Activities 

UIG Interpretation 131 Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 
Services 

Future developments The AASB may retain SAC 1 Definition of the Reporting Entity and SAC 2 
Objective of General Purpose Financial Reports in some form. 

The IASB has decided to amend the accounting for government grants. 

Commercial impact Minor 

Effort to implement Minor 

Main entities affected The Framework will impact all entities 

Entities receiving government grants may be significantly impacts 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004/16 ‘AASB issues Pending Standards for revenue, government 
grants and contributions’ 

Accounting Alert 2004/14 ‘Framework for the preparation of presentation of 
financial statements’ 

Accounting Alert 2003/14 ‘International convergence update’ 

3.3.1 Overview 
The Framework sets out the underlying objectives, assumptions and characteristics of financial reports.  It also 
outlines the various elements of financial reports: assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and capital 
maintenance adjustments, and the recognition criteria related to those elements. 

The concept of which entities are to be considered ‘reporting entities’ and thus are required to prepare 
‘general purpose financial reports’ has changed and may also be reinforced in a revision to the existing 
framework. 

Revenues are the gross inflows of economic benefits arising from ordinary activities, and other items are 
considered ‘gains’, e.g. profit on sale of property, plant and equipment.  ‘Income’ is the aggregate of revenues 
and gains.  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contributions received or receivable 
and can only be recognised when certain conditions have been met. 

Government grants can only be recognised as revenues once there is reasonable assurance that the entity will 
comply with conditions attaching to the grants and they will be received, and must be recognised as income 
over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs.  Where grants relate to assets, the grant must 
be presented as deferred income. 
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3.3.2 Key changes 
Key changes include: 

• amendments to the definition of a ‘reporting entity’ – this may relive some entities from the requirement 
to prepare general purpose financial reports due to the deletion of ‘mandatory’ reporting entities, 
particularly in relation to subsidiaries of foreign listed entities. Note however that companies preparing 
financial reports under Chapter 2M of the Corporations Act 2001 will only get relief from the disclosure 
requirements when preparing special purpose financial reports but will still need to comply with the 
A-IFRS accounting methodologies 

• change in the concept of ‘income’ and ‘expenses’ – income is seen to comprise ‘revenue’ and ‘gains’ and 
‘expenses’ include ‘losses’, meaning that some items will be reported on a gross basis, whereas others will 
be reported on a net basis, e.g. gains/losses on sales of property, plant and equipment rather than the 
current practice of including the proceeds in revenue 

• government grants – these may be recognised at a later point, and where they relate to assets, may be 
carried as ‘deferred income’ in the balance sheet and amortised over the same period as the assets. 

3.3.3 Transitional adjustments 
The requirements of the Framework are generally required to be retrospectively applied. 

3.3.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Reporting entity 

(The following disclosure may be appropriate for entities which are reporting entities by virtue of being a 
subsidiary of a foreign listed parent.)  

The consolidated entity is a reporting entity as defined under current Australian GAAP, and consequently is 
required to prepare general purpose financial reports.  However, the A-IFRS definition of reporting entity 
does not specifically identify an entity which is a subsidiary of a listed foreign entity to be a reporting entity, 
and consequently it may be possible for the entity to prepare special purpose financial reports in the future.  
These special purpose financial reports will comply with the recognition and measurement criteria specified 
by the A-IFRS, but will only have to comply with the disclosure requirements of certain Standards.  
Accordingly, while there may be no measurement and recognition accounting impact on the financial 
statements as a result of the changed definition, the extent of disclosure provided may significantly change. 

The directors of the company are assessing whether the consolidated entity has users dependent on the 
preparation of a general purpose financial report, and if not, whether the company should still continue to 
prepare a general purpose financial report. 

Government grants  

Presently, non-reciprocal grants received are recognised as revenue when the consolidated entity obtains 
control of the grant, regardless of the specific purpose to which the grant is required to be expended or the 
periods over which the grant conditions apply.  A liability to repay the grant is only recognised where a 
present obligation exists to repay grant monies.  A-IFRS requires grants received to be recognised as income 
on a systematic basis over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs which they are intended 
to compensate, but only when there is reasonable assurance that the consolidated entity will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.  Accordingly, the change in accounting 
policy will result in the later recognition of grants as revenue and the recognition of additional liabilities on 
the balance sheet.  This will reduce some of the volatility in the income statement arising from the current 
A-GAAP grant revenue recognition policies. 
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Proceeds from sale of assets  

The current definition of revenue requires proceeds on sale of non-current assets to be included as revenue – 
this has the effect of ‘grossing up’ the statement of financial performance.  Under A-IFRS, only the net gain 
or loss from the sale will be recognised in profit or loss.  Consequently, there will be no net impact on the 
income statement. 

3.3.5 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management to consider include: 

• will the change in the concept of ‘income’ and ‘revenue’ have any flow-on impacts, e.g. banking 
covenants, small/large classification of proprietary companies? 

• how will any government grants currently received by the entity be accounted for under A-IFRS? 

• will the consolidated entity or any of its subsidiaries which prepare general purpose financial statements 
be able to prepare special purpose statements?  (question only applicable to Australian groups with off 
shore listed parents) 
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3.4 Consolidation, associates and joint ventures 
Key pronouncements AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

AASB 128 Investments in Associates 

AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures 

UIG Interpretation 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities 

UIG Interpretation 113 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary 
Contributions by Venturers 

Future developments Consequential changes in these areas are likely as a result of the IASB’s 
Business Combinations Phase II project 

Commercial impact Minor 

Effort to implement Minor 

Main entities affected Major corporate groups 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004/06 ‘International convergence update (including impacts on 
30 June 2004 reports)’ 

3.4.1 Overview 
The parent of a group of entities that is a reporting entity is required to produce consolidated financial 
statements.  All subsidiaries of a parent must be consolidated into the consolidated financial statements.  
Subsidiaries exist where a control relationship exists, i.e. the parent has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of the subsidiary so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

Uniform accounting policies must be used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and all 
intergroup balances, transactions, income and expenses eliminated in full.  Minority interests are presented as 
a separate component of equity. 

Investments in associates are generally accounted for using the equity method.  An associate relationship 
generally exists where an investor can significantly influence an investee.  There are special exceptions for 
venture capital organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and other similar entities in some cases. 

There are three types of ‘joint ventures’: joint venture entities (accounted for using the equity method), and 
joint venture assets and joint venture operations (both accounted for using a proportional approach).  Joint 
ventures require a contractual agreement that provides for unanimous consent of venturers strategic financial 
and operating decisions. 

If a separate financial report is prepared for a parent, investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities 
and associates that are not classified as held for sale are accounted for at cost or as a financial instrument 
(refer section 2.1). 

3.4.2 Key changes 
Key changes include the following: 

• equity method – the equity accounted ‘investment’ in associates and joint venture entities includes long-
term interests in the entity such as loans – where losses are incurred, this can result in write downs of 
affected receivables and other balances 

• minority interests – the parent entity shareholders must be attributed with losses unless the minority has 
a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses, leading potentially 
to lower reported profits and earnings per share 
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• changes in ownership interests – changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries after control is initially 
obtained must be accounted for as a transaction between equity participants instead of impacting profits.  
There will be no uplift in the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (other than goodwill) as a result of 
such piecemeal acquisitions after obtaining control 

• reporting dates – there can be no more than three months differences between the reporting date of the 
parent and its subsidiaries and associates, meaning that additional reporting arrangements may need to be 
put in place 

3.4.3 Transitional adjustments 
There are no special exemptions in relation to this area.  The transitional provisions in relation to business 
combinations may have an impact on amounts recognised in consolidated financial statements.  Furthermore, 
the optional restatement of past business combinations is also extended to investments in associates and joint 
ventures, but may not extend to past ‘step acquisitions’ that occurred after control was obtained. 

3.4.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Allocation of losses to minority interests 

One of the consolidated entity’s subsidiaries is currently in a loss-making position and a portion of the loss 
has accordingly been allocated to the 20% minority shareholding.  Under A-IFRS, the loss can only continue 
to be allocated to the minority shareholding to the extent that the minority interests’ carrying value exceeds 
nil unless the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover the 
losses.  Accordingly, in future financial years, if the company continues to make losses, the consolidated entity 
may be required to recognise a greater share of these losses, thereby decreasing consolidated net profit 
attributable to members of the parent. 

Investment in associates  

There is no time limit on the differences between reporting dates of associates and the consolidated entity 
under current Australian GAAP.  However, under A-IFRS, the difference in reporting dates should be no 
longer than three months, and consequently, more recent information will be recognised in the financial 
statements. 

Investments in joint ventures 

(This change in policy may be applicable to venture capital organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and other 
similar entities.) 

Under A-IFRS, the company may account for venture capital investments at fair value through profit or loss 
rather than using joint venture accounting.  The effect of this change in policy may be to increase the 
volatility of the income statement.  No decision has been made as to the treatment of such investments as yet.  

3.4.5 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management to consider include: 

• will the changes in the treatment of minority interests and equity accounting in relation to loss making 
subsidiaries and associates impact our reported profits?  What process is being undertaken to manage 
these underperforming investments? 

• are there any opportunities from treating past ‘step acquisitions’ and other changes in ownership interests 
in our subsidiaries as an equity transaction thereby reducing the carrying value of the economic entities’ 
assets? 

• will new reporting arrangements need to be put in place with our subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures because of the new reporting date requirements?  If so, what steps have been taken and are any 
difficulties envisaged? 
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3.5 Borrowing costs 
Key pronouncements AASB 123 Borrowing Costs 

Commercial impact Minor 

Effort to implement Minor 

Main entities affected Entities that have ‘qualifiying assets’ 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004/04 ‘International convergence update’ 

3.5.1 Overview 
Borrowings costs are generally fully expensed as incurred.  However, entities may optionally capitalise certain 
borrowing costs where they relate to qualifying assets. 

Where borrowing costs are capitalised, strict requirements exist in relation to the amount that may be 
capitalised and the period during which capitalisation may occur. 

3.5.2 Key changes 
Key changes include the following: 

• optional capitalisation – entities can choose between capitalisation and expensing of borrowing costs as 
their accounting policy under A-IFRS, whereas all such costs were required to be capitalised in the past 
where they related to qualifying assets 

• change in definition of borrowing costs – foreign currency gains and losses are only considered 
borrowing costs to the extent that they are regarded as adjustments to interest costs. 

3.5.3 Transitional adjustments 
There are no specific exemptions to the general requirement to restate retrospectively in this area.  Where an 
entity’s policy is changed to full expensing of borrowing costs as they are incurred, adjustments will need to 
be made to the carrying amounts of past qualifying assets.  The options available in relation to deemed costs 
on transition may partially ameliorate these impacts. 

3.5.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Borrowing costs 

The consolidated entity currently capitalises borrowing costs related to qualifying assets.  Under A-IFRS, the 
consolidated entity can continue to capitalise such costs, or choose to immediately expense all borrowing 
costs, even where they relate to qualifying assets.  The consolidated entity has not yet made a decision as to 
which accounting policy it will elect to adopt under A-IFRS.  However, the impact of the consolidated entity 
changing its policy may be to cause a write-off of capitalised borrowing costs on transition (depending on 
first-time adoption choices around deemed cost), and on an ongoing basis, to cause a reduction in future 
asset values and immediate expensing of borrowing costs in net profit. 

3.5.5 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management to consider include: 

• what factors have been taken into account in determining the go-forward accounting policy in relation to 
the capitalisation of borrowing costs under A-IFRS? 
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3.6 Foreign currency 
Key pronouncements AASB 121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 

AASB 129 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 

UIG Interpretation 107 Introduction of the Euro 

Commercial impact Minor 

Effort to implement Minor 

Main entities affected Multi-national corporations 

Entities where functional currency may not be Australian dollars such as 
entities dealing mainly in the sale of commodities 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2003/14 ‘International convergence update’ 

Accounting Alert 2004/04 ‘International convergence update’ 

3.6.1 Overview 
Entities are required to determine their ‘functional currency’, which is the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates.  Subsidiaries may have different functional currencies to their parent. 

The entity has a free choice in the determination of its ‘presentation currency’ - the currency in which its 
financial report is presented.  An explanation must be provided if Australian dollars are not used as 
presentation currency.  The functional currency amounts are translated into the presentation currency using 
closing rates for the balance sheet and transaction rates for profit and loss items.  Any difference is 
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve, 

Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded in the functional currency using the spot rate on the date 
of the transaction.  Monetary items are then retranslated at each reporting date using the reporting date spot 
rate. 

3.6.2 Key changes 
Key changes include the following: 

• free choice of presentation currency – this will benefit entities reporting under Australian accounting 
pronouncements that would prefer to maintain accounting records and financial reports in other 
currencies, e.g. wholly-owned subsidiaries of foreign entities 

• functional currency – the determination of a functional currency requires judgement and the balancing of 
various factors in many cases, e.g. sales denominated in another currency but costs in Australian dollars 

• recycling – on the sale of an entity whose functional currency is not the same as the presentation 
currency of the group, the amount of any related foreign currency translation reserve is included in the 
profit and loss. 

3.6.3 Transitional adjustments 
The requirements in relation to functional currency must be retrospectively applied on transition to A-IFRS.  
However, entities may choose to ‘reset’ their foreign currency translation reserves to zero at the date of 
transition. 



Other areas 
Foreign currency 

 

An overview of Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 39 

3.6.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Functional currency 

The consolidated entity conducts most of its transactions and reports internally in US dollars (USD).  While 
no decision has yet been made, it is likely that the entity will consider USD to be its functional currency, but 
continue to present its financial report in Australian dollars, as presently required by Australian GAAP.  
Gains and losses on translating the functional currency into the presentation currency (being Australian 
dollars) will be recognised directly in equity.  In contrast, current Australian GAAP effectively requires that 
the functional and presentation currency of an Australian entity be Australian dollars, consequently, 
translation gains or losses on USD monetary items would be recognised in the profit and loss with non-
monetary items being recorded and the historic conversion rate existing at the date of the transaction. 

Disposal of foreign entities  

The consolidated entity includes a number of self-sustaining foreign operations that are expected to have a 
different functional currency to the parent under A-IFRS..  Exchange differences arising from translation of 
these subsidiaries are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve.  A-IFRS requires these 
differences to be recycled through the income statement on disposal (in whole or in part) of the related 
foreign subsidiary, which is not presently permitted under Australian GAAP.  The consolidated entity has not 
yet decided whether to adopt the first-time option available to it to reset the reserve to nil.  It is not feasible 
to determine the impact of this change for future financial years. 

3.6.5 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management to consider include: 

• what is the likely functional currency and presentation currency for the group?  On what basis have they 
been determined and what key factors were taken into account? 
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3.7 Leases 
Key pronouncements AASB 117 Leases 

UIG Interpretation 115 Operating Leases - Incentives 

Commercial impact Minor 

Effort to implement Minor 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004/04 ‘International convergence update’ 

3.7.1 Overview 
Leases must be classified by both lessors and lessees according to their economic substance as either 
operating leases or finance leases. 

Lessees of finance leases must recognise a lease asset and lease liability equal to the present value of the 
minimum lease payments at the beginning of the lease term (unless fair value is lower).  The leased asset must 
also include the initial direct costs incurred. 

A lessor to a finance lease recognises a lease receivable equal to the aggregate of the present value of the 
minimum lease payments and the present value of any unguaranteed residual value. 

Any profit arising on a sale and leaseback transaction classified as a finance lease by a lessor must be deferred 
and amortised over the lease term.   The treatment of a sale and leaseback transaction that involves an 
operating lease depends on the circumstances surrounding the transaction. 

3.7.2 Key changes 
Key changes include the following: 

• lessor incentives – the lessor should recognise the aggregate cost of incentives as a reduction of rental 
income over the lease term on a straight-line basis unless another systematic basis is more representative 
of the time pattern of the benefit 

• operating lease payments with fixed escalation clauses – the lease payments under the lease are required 
to be recognised on a straight-line basis, changing the timing of the recognition of expenses when 
compared to current practice. 

3.7.3 Transitional adjustments 
There are no exceptions to the general principle of full retrospective application of the lease accounting 
requirements.   
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3.8 Provisions and contingencies 
Key pronouncements AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

UIG Interpretation 1 Changes in Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar 
Liabilities 

Commercial impact Minor – moderate 

Effort to implement Minor – moderate 

Main entities affected Entities with restoration obligations associated with long-lived assets 

3.8.1 Overview 
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount.  A provision must be recognised where a present 
obligation exists, either legal, constructive or equitable. 

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the 
reporting date.  The measurement must be determined on a discounted basis and take into account the risks 
and uncertainties surrounding the provisions.  A provision must be recognised for onerous contracts, but 
cannot be recognised in relation to future operating costs.  A provision can only be recognised in relation to 
restructuring costs when there is a constructive obligation, determined in accordance with guidance in the 
Standard. 

Contingent liabilities must not recognised but disclosed, unless acquired as part of a business combination.  
Contingent assets must not be recognised unless they are virtually certain, but must be disclosed if greater 
than probable. 

3.8.2 Key changes 
Key changes include the following: 

• provisions associated with long-lived assets – these must be recognised as liabilities and capitalised into 
the cost of the asset, increasing the carrying amounts of both assets and liabilities (see section 2.6) 

• contingent assets and recoveries against provisions – can only be recognised when they are virtually 
certain, delaying recognition of, e.g. court cases, uncertain insurance claims, third party recoveries under 
guarantees, etc. 

3.8.3  Transitional adjustments 
There are no exceptions to the general principle of full retrospective application of the provisions 
requirements.  There are however, special transitional adjustments arising in relation to decommissioning, 
restoration and similar liabilities related to long-lived assets (see section 2.6). 
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3.8.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Contingent assets  

Under current Australian GAAP, it is possible to recognise a contingent asset such as a claim against a 
supplier as an asset earlier than it would be under A-IFRS.  Under A-IFRS the future economic benefits 
associated with the claim will need to be ‘virtually certain’ before being recognised rather than merely 
probable as is required under A-GAAP. 

3.8.5 Key questions 
Key questions for boards, audit committees and senior management to consider include: 

• have any ‘contingent assets’ been previously recognised on the basis that they were ‘probable’? 
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3.9 Inventories 
Key pronouncements AASB 102 Inventories 

Commercial impact Minor 

Effort to implement Minor 

Main entities affected Retail industry participants using the retail inventory method 

Commodity brokers and traders, and producers of agriculutural, forest 
products and minerals and mineral products 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004/04 ‘International convergence update’  

3.9.1 Overview 
Inventories within the scope of the specific standard must be measured at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value using either the average cost or first-in-first-out method.  The cost of inventories comprises all costs of 
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition.  The use of standard costs or the retail inventory method is acceptable where it approximates 
cost. 

Producers of agricultural and forest products, agricultural produce after harvest, and minerals and mineral 
products, are exempted from the ‘lower of cost and net realisable value’ rule to the extent that these 
inventories are measured at net realisable value in accordance with well-established practices in those 
industries.  When such inventories are measured at net realisable value, changes in that value are recognised in 
profit or loss in the period of the change. 

Commodity broker-traders who measure their inventories at fair value less costs to sell are also exempted 
from the ‘lower of cost and net realisable value’ rule.  When such inventories are measured at fair value less 
costs to sell, changes in fair value less costs to sell are recognised in profit or loss in the period of the change. 

3.9.2 Key changes 
Key changes include the following: 

• retail inventory method – the gross profit margin used in the calculation of the cost is reduced for 
seasonal or slow moving items resulting in inventories being recognised under A-IFRS at a higher value 
than under A-GAAP 

• specialist industries – inventories may be measured at net realisable value or fair value less costs to sell 
even though these amounts may be higher than original cost. 

3.9.3 Transitional adjustments 
There are no exceptions to the general principle of full retrospective application of the inventory 
requirements. 
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3.9.4 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Inventories 

The consolidated entity applies the retail inventory method in determining the cost of its inventory.  Under 
current Australian GAAP, the discount rate applied excludes markdowns for seasonal and slow-moving 
inventories.  Under A-IFRS, the consolidated entity will have to take the markdowns into account in 
determining the cost of inventory.  Accordingly, inventory will be carried at a higher value under A-IFRS – 
the effect of this will be to increase net assets, but decrease subsequent gross profit.  On initial transition to 
A-IFRS, the effect of the change will be recognised by increasing inventory and decreasing opening retained 
earnings.  

3.10 Construction contracts 
Key pronouncements AASB 111 Construction Contracts 

Future developments IFRIC is currently considering issues surrounding the combining and 
segmenting of construction contracts 

Commercial impact Low 

Effort to implement Low 

Other publications: Accounting Alert 2004/04 ‘International convergence update’ 

3.10.1 Overview 
Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract costs 
to be recognised by applying the stage of completion method.  If the outcome of a construction contract 
cannot be estimated reliably, costs incurred to be recognised as expenses immediately and revenue to be 
recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the costs incurred will be recoverable; 

An expense must be recognised immediately for any excess of total costs over total revenue to be recognised. 

3.10.2 Key changes 
There are no major changes in this area. 
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4 Special impact areas 
 

Note:  The items in this section are very high-level and do not deal in depth with the special circumstances 
and key questions that need to be considered by entities impacted by the requirements.  However, all entities 
should consider whether any of these requirements may impact them indirectly, particularly in relation to 
insurance. 

4.1 Biological assets 
Key pronouncements AASB 141 Agriculture 

Future developments IFRIC are considering issues on the determination of fair values 

Commercial impact Low 

Effort to implement Low 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004/04 ‘International convergence update’ 

4.1.1 Overview 
Agricultural activity is the management by an entity of the biological transformation of living animals or 
plants (biological assets) for sale, into agricultural produce, or into additional biological assets. 

Biological assets to be measured at fair value less estimated point of sale costs from initial recognition of the 
biological assets up to the point of harvest, other than when fair value cannot be measured reliably on initial 
recognition.  The cost of agricultural produce is its fair value less estimated point of sale costs at the point of 
harvest. 

4.1.2 Key changes 
Key changes include: 

• scope of standards – A-IFRS only applies fair value accounting to biological assets that are related to 
agricultural activities, meaning that other living assets are excluded, e.g. racing animals, zoological 
animals, etc 

• leased assets – biological assets held under finance and operating leases may not qualify for fair value 
accounting  in some circumstances. 

4.1.3 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
Biological assets 

(The following disclosure may be relevant for entities whose principal activities involve biological assets.) 

The consolidated entity recognises biological assets in the balance sheet as ‘self-generating and regenerating 
assets’ (SGARAs), measured on a net market value basis.  There is no active and liquid market for the 
SGARAs at present, and accordingly the consolidated entity has used the cost of the SGARAs as the best 
indicator of its net market value.  Under A-IFRS, biological assets may be measured at cost less depreciation 
and impairment where the fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs cannot be reliably determined – 
however, this option is not available on first-time adoption of A-IFRS for those SGARAs already measured 
at net market value.  
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(The following disclosure may be relevant for entities whose biological assets are scoped out of the new 
requirements) 

The consolidated entity maintains a stable of race horses that compete both locally and internationally.  These 
horses are accounted for under current Australian GAAP as self-generating and regenerating assets, and are 
accordingly valued at net market value.  However, under A-IFRS, it will no longer be appropriate to account 
for them in this manner as the non-agricultural activities of non-human living animals are scoped out of the 
relevant Standard.  Under A-IFRS, the consolidated entity will be required to account for its stable as 
inventory, and the horses would generally then be measured at their cost, which may be substantially lower 
than their net market value. 

(The following disclosure may be relevant for lessees whose biological assets are held under an operating 
lease.) 

The consolidated entity’s leases its orchards under an operating lease.  Under current Australian GAAP, the 
lease is treated as though it is a self-generating and regenerating asset (SGARA) and is measured at net market 
value.  The scope of AASB 141 “Agriculture” excludes SGARAs acquired or used under operating lease 
arrangements, . Under A-IFRS, the lessee must account for the lease in accordance with AASB 117 “Leases”, 
rather than as though it were a biological asset.  Accordingly, on initial adoption of A-IFRS, the consolidated 
entity will be required to write off the biological asset currently recognised on the balance sheet in relation to 
the lease, and recognise operating lease payments as an expense on an ongoing basis. 
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4.2 Extractive industries  
Key pronouncements ED 130 ‘Request for Comment on IASB ED 6 Exploration for and 

Evaluation of Mineral Resources’ 

Future developments The IASB is to finalise an ‘interim’ standard on the extractive industries in 
the fourth quarter of 2004.  Longer term, a comprehensive standard on 
the extractive industries is expected to be developed. 

Commercial impact Uncertain 

Effort to implement Uncertain 

Other publications Accounting Alert 2004/05 ‘Accounting for exploration and evaluation under IFRS’ 

IASC’s Extractive Industries Issues Paper: Mining    

Financial Reporting in the Global Mining Industry    

4.2.1 Overview 
The IASB and its predecessor the IASC have been researching the accounting for extractive industries for 
some time.  Due to the move by a number of countries including Australia to adopt IFRS from 2005, a need 
was identified for an ‘interim’ IFRS dealing with exploration and evaluation before the wider extractive 
industries project was completed. 

The IASB issued an exposure draft in January 2004 and at the time of preparation of this document, was in 
the process of redeliberating its requirements. 

It appears that the outcome of these deliberations will be that the ‘interim’ IFRS standard will effectively 
permit the ‘grandfathering’ of existing practice in relation to the capitalisation or otherwise of  exploration 
and evaluation expenditures.  An impairment test may only be required to be applied where certain factors are 
met and where there is sufficient information available to allow the determination of recoverable amount. 

Entities operating in the extractive industries will still be required to comply with other requirements in 
relation to its other transactions, balances, incomes and expenses, e.g. amortisation incorporating expected 
future capital expenditure may not be permissible, embedded derivatives in mining supply contracts will need 
to be identified.  

4.2.2 Example AASB 1047 disclosures 
The AASB have agreed that, in the absence of an outcome on the IASB’s extractive industries’ project, it 
would be reasonable for entities in extractive industries to make the following disclosure in their 30 June 2004 
financial report.  Note however that entities in extractive industries may have other key areas of change in 
policies that should continue to be disclosed under AASB 1047. 

Extractive industries 

An A-IFRS on extractive industries has not yet been issued.  Consequently, the consolidated entity is unable 
to determine the change in policies and related impacts, if any, that may arise on adoption of A-IFRS on its 
extractive-related operations and balances at reporting date.  

IAS PLUS 

IAS PLUS 
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4.3 Insurance 
Key pronouncements AASB 4 Insurance Contracts 

AASB 1023 General Insurance Contracts 

AASB 1038 Life Insurance Contracts 

Future developments The IASB is currently progressing its Insurance Phase II project, which is 
expected to determine a comprehensive standard on accounting for 
insurance contracts 

IASB Exposure Draft of Proposed Amendments to IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments; Recognition and Measurement – Financial Guarantee Contracts and 
Credit Insurance 

Commercial impact High 

Effort to implement High 

Other publications An update on General Insurance Accounting – July 2004 (Trowbridge Deloitte) 

4.3.1 Overview 
The specific insurance requirements apply only to insurance contracts, including medical benefits insurance 
contracts.  Insurance contracts are defined in terms of contracts subject to significant insurance risk – risk 
other than financial risk.  Contracts that do not include an insurance risk should be accounted for in 
accordance with the general financial instrument requirements (see 2.1)  

Premium revenue is recognised on a fully prospective basis from attachment date, i.e. recognition of premium 
liabilities are required at the commencement of a contract where insurance liabilities, less related deferred 
acquisition costs and intangible assets, is insufficient to meet estimated future cash flows.   

Premium liabilities must include a risk margin for uncertainty and must be discounted at the risk free discount 
rate.  Policy liabilities to be discounted at the risk free rate to the extent that the benefits under the life 
insurance contract are not contractually linked to the performance of the asset held. 

All assets to be accounted for under other A-IFRS standards.  Assets backing insurance liabilities are required 
to be measured at fair value where an available option within other accounting standard.  

The general financial instrument requirements (see 2.1) must be applied to financial liabilities arising from 
investment contracts (non-insurance contracts).  However such liabilities must be designated as fair value 
through the profit or loss. 

4.3.2 Key changes 
Key changes include: 

• scope of standards – the standards now apply to insurance contracts, rather than entities involved in 
insurance, and now includes health insurers 

• asset valuations – assets backing insurance liabilities must be measured at their fair values, with other 
assets measured in accordance with other standards 

• unearned premiums – the new ‘liability adequacy test’ is a major change 

• outstanding claims liabilities – new requirements for discount rates and risk margins brings accounting in 
line with common market practice and APRA valuation standards 

• excess of market value over net assets of controlled entities – not permitted to be recognised under the 
new standards. 
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4.4 Public sector and not-for-profit entities 
Key pronouncements AASB 1004 Contributions 

AAS 22 Related Party Disclosures 

AAS 27 Financial Reporting by Local Governments 

AAS 29 Financial Reporting by Government Departments 

AAS 31 Financial Reporting by Governments 

AASB 1045 Land Under Roads: Amendments to AASB 27A, AASB 29A and 
AAS 31A 

ED 125 Financial Reporting by Local Governments 

Future developments The AASB has a current GAAP/GFS project that is expected to result in 
significant changes to government reporting 

The Urgent Issues Group is finalising a number of Interpretations that 
will only apply to not-for-profit entities 

Commercial impact Varies 

Effort to implement Varies 

4.4.1 Overview 
The AASB has included additional guidance and requirements for not-for-profit entities in A-IFRS as such 
entities were not contemplated in the development of the IASB Standards.  The following amendments to 
other information included in this document should therefore be considered when considering the impact of 
A-IFRS on a not-for-profit entity.  In many cases, not-for-profit entities will not be able to claim compliance 
with IFRS due to these requirements. 

4.4.2 Key changes 
Key changes and differences from A-IFRS as it applies to for-profit entities include: 

• inventories – inventories held for distribution by not-for-profit entities (that, is for no or nominal 
consideration) are to be measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost, rather than net 
realisable value.  Also, the Standard does not apply to work in progress of services to be provided for no 
or nominal consideration directly in return from the recipients 

• long term construction work in progress – not-for-profit entities that are construction contractors must 
apply construction contract accounting to non-commercial contracts and similar arrangements that are 
binding on the parties to the arrangements but do not take the form of a documented contract, i.e. where 
construction activity is funded through indirect means such as general appropriation of government 
funds or grants 

• property, plant and equipment – revaluation increments and decrements are offset by class of asset; 
assets acquired at no or nominal cost are initially measured at fair value 

• investment properties – guidance is to be provided regarding the classification of investment properties 
particularly in the public sector 

• impairment of assets – where the future economic benefits of an asset of a not-for-profit entity are not 
primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows and where the entity would, if 
deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the 
depreciated replacement cost of the asset 
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• revenue – superseded A-GAAP requirements in respect of contributions and liabilities forgiven for not-
for-profit entities have been retained 

• discontinued and discontinuing operations – an exemption is provided for restructuring of administrative 
arrangements and administered activities of government departments 

• government grants and government assistance – superseded A-GAAP will continue to apply to not-for-
profit entities with respect to accounting for government grants, including where received in relation to 
biological assets 

• consolidated financial statements and investments in subsidiaries – guidance on this topic regarding 
application to the public sector has been retained 

• business combinations – an entity that is not required to prepare a financial report in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001,  is not a reporting entity and prepares special purpose financial reports may 
elect to account for a reconstruction within a reporting entity at book value 

• cash flow statements – not-for-profit entities that highlight the net cost of services in their income 
statement must disclose in the financial report a reconciliation of cash flows arising from operating 
activities to net cost of services as reported in the income statement, rather than to profit or loss 

• segment reporting – not-for-profit entities remain exempt from these requirements 

• related party disclosures – an Australian specific standard applies instead of the general requirements 

• land under roads – recognition will continue to be delayed until the substantive issues involved are 
resolved. 
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Appendix A 
Listing of Australian equivalents to IFRS 
Reference Title Section 

AASB 1 First-Time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards 

1.3 

AASB 2 Share-based Payment 2.8 

AASB 3 Business Combinations 2.2 

AASB 4 Insurance Contracts 4.3 

AASB 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 2.6 

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements 3.1 

AASB 102 Inventories 3.9 

AASB 107 Cash Flow Statements 3.1 

AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 3.2 

AASB 110 Events After the Balance Sheet Date 3.2 

AASB 111 Construction Contracts 3.10 

AASB 112 Income Taxes 2.5 

AASB 114 Segment Reporting 3.1 

AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment 2.6 

AASB 117 Leases 3.7 

AASB 118 Revenue 3.3 

AASB 119 Employee Benefits 2.7 

AASB 120 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 
Assistance 

3.3 

AASB 121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 3.6 

AASB 123 Borrowing Costs 3.5 

AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures 3.1 

AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 3.4 

AASB 128 Investments in Associates 3.4 

AASB 129 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 3.6 

AASB 130 Disclosure in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial 
Institutions 

3.1 

AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures 3.4 

AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation 2.1 
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Reference Title Section 

AASB 133 Earnings per Share 3.1 

AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting 3.1 

AASB 136 Impairment of Assets 2.4 

AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 3.8 

AASB 138 Intangible Assets 2.3 

AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 2.1 

AASB 140 Investment Property 2.6 

AASB 141 Agriculture 4.1 

AASB 1004 Contributions 4.4 

AASB 1022  Accounting for the Extractive Industries  4.2 

AASB 1023 General Insurance Contracts 4.3 

AASB 1031 Materiality  3.2 

AASB 1038 Life Insurance Contracts  4.3 

AASB 1039  Concise Financial Reports  3.1 

AASB 1045  Land Under Roads: Amendments to AAS 27A, AAS 29A and AAS 31A 4.4 

AASB 1046  Director and Executive Disclosures by Disclosing Entities 3.1 

AASB 1047  Disclosing the Impacts of Adopting Australian Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards 

1.3 

AASB 1048 Interpretation and Application of Standards 3.2 

AAS 22 Related Party Disclosures 4.4 
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